

# City of San Leandro

Meeting Date: January 6, 2020

#### Staff Report

File Number:	19-652		Agenda Section:	CONSENT CALENDAR
			Agenda Number:	8.I.
TO:	City Council			
FROM:	Jeff Kay City Manage	r		
BY:	Jeff Kay City Manage	r		
FINANCE REVIE		Baum æ Director		
TITLE:	•		pproving the San Le dum of Understand	andro Police Officers' ing 2020-2022

#### SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Staff recommends that the City Council approve a resolution ratifying the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the City of San Leandro and the San Leandro Police Officers' Association (SLPOA) for the period covering January 1, 2020 through December 31, 2022.

#### BACKGROUND

The San Leandro Police Officers' Association (SLPOA) Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) expired on December 31, 2019. The SLPOA represents 84 employees and is comprised of police officers and police sergeants. Over the course of six months, the City's negotiating team and SLPOA representatives met and conferred in good faith over the terms and conditions of employment for a new MOU. A tentative agreement was successfully reached in November 2019.

#### <u>Analysis</u>

The agreement was ratified by the SLPOA membership and is presented to the City Council for its approval. The following is a summary of the key provisions from the tentative agreement.

#### <u>Term</u>

Three-year term for the period January 1, 2020 through December 31, 2022.

### **Compensation**

SLPOA employees will receive the following adjustments to base salary:

- 1% increase effective January 1, 2020
- 1.75% increase effective July 1, 2020

- 2.75% increase effective July 1, 2021
- 2% increase effective July 1, 2022
- 1.5% increase effective October 1, 2022

### Health Benefits

Effective January 1, 2020, the City's contribution to medical will increase to the amount equivalent to the 2020 Kaiser premium for each level of coverage. Annually thereafter, SLPOA employees will share the cost of health premiums and pay 30% of the annual increase of Kaiser premium rates.

The City will also contribute to the SLPOA's Long-Term Disability insurance equivalent to the amount received by other City employees.

#### **Deferred Compensation**

The City shall match an employee contribution into his/her deferred compensation 457 account up to 1% of base salary in 2020 and 1.75% in 2021.

#### Specialty Pays

- Education Incentive will increase by 0.5% effective 1/1/20 (6.5%), 1% effective 1/1/21 (7.5%), and 0.5% effective 1/1/22 for a total 8% of base salary for those employees who have received their POST Advanced certification.
- Field Technician Pay will increase from \$40 to \$50 per day.
- Bilingual Pay will increase from \$185 to \$200 per month.
- A new Drone Technician Pay of \$15 per shift will be implemented for employees who are certified to operate drone equipment in accordance with FAA regulations.
- Assignment Differential will increase from 3% to 5% for those assigned to Crime Investigation, Traffic or Administration divisions.

The terms of the successor agreement are important components to recruiting and retaining quality employees. A total compensation study of police officers as compared to neighboring public agencies, which included the cities of Alameda, Berkeley, Fremont, Hayward, Livermore, Pleasanton, and Union City, showed the City of San Leandro to be approximately 3% below the median. Competition for top talent is significant as candidate pools have decreased significantly over the years. As more SLPOA employees become eligible for retirement, it is critical to provide a compensation package that maintains the City's market position to support recruitment efforts to attract qualified candidates.

Staff recommends approval of the proposed agreement, which will keep the City of San Leandro competitive in the current labor market.

#### **Previous Actions**

• On December 5, 2016, by Resolution No. 2016-163, the City Council approved the prior

SLPOA MOU for the period January 1, 2016 through December 31, 2019.

#### Fiscal Impacts

The tentative agreement will result in a budgetary impact to the City's General Fund of approximately \$4,453,191 for the term of the MOU. The financial impact is approximately \$544,604 in FY 19-20, \$1,313,154 in FY 20-21, \$1,497,455 in FY 21-22, and \$1,097,978 in FY 22-23 ending December 31, 2022.

#### ATTACHMENT

• San Leandro Police Officers' Association Memorandum of Understanding (MOU)

PREPARED BY: Emily Hung, Human Resources Manager, City Manager's Office

## Memorandum of Understanding

## between

# City of San Leandro

## and

# San Leandro Police Officers' Association

January 1, 2020 – December 31, 2022

### MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

## SAN LEANDRO POLICE OFFICERS' ASSOCIATION

### Table of Contents

## Page

PREAMBLE		1
SECTION 1.	RECOGNITION	1
SECTION 2.	ASSOCIATION SECURITY	1
SECTION 3.	ADVANCE NOTICE	2
SECTION 4.	ASSOCIATION RIGHTS	2
SECTION 5.	CITY RIGHTS	4
SECTION 6.	PAY AND CLASSIFICATION	4
SECTION 7.	OVERTIME COMPENSATION & "CALL-OUT" PAY	4
SECTION 8.	CANINE PAY AND ASSIGNMENT DIFFERENTIALS	5
SECTION 9.	APPLICATION OF PAY RATES	7
SECTION 10.	EDUCATIONAL INCENTIVE PROGRAM	8
SECTION 11.	LONGEVITY	8
SECTION 12.	UNIFORM ALLOWANCE	8
SECTION 13	HOLIDAYS	9
SECTION 14.	ANNUAL VACATION LEAVE	9
SECTION 15.	SICK LEAVE	10
SECTION 16.	FUNERAL LEAVE	12
	MILITARY LEAVE	12
	MILITARY LEAVE CATASTROPHIC ILLNESS LEAVE	12
SECTION 18.		12 12
SECTION 18. SECTION 19.	CATASTROPHIC ILLNESS LEAVE	12 12 13
SECTION 18. SECTION 19. SECTION 20.	CATASTROPHIC ILLNESS LEAVE	12 12 13 13
SECTION 18. SECTION 19. SECTION 20. SECTION 21.	CATASTROPHIC ILLNESS LEAVE JURY DUTY LEAVE OF ABSENCE WITHOUT PAY	12 12 13 13 13 14
SECTION 18. SECTION 19. SECTION 20. SECTION 21. SECTION 22.	CATASTROPHIC ILLNESS LEAVE JURY DUTY LEAVE OF ABSENCE WITHOUT PAY PREGNANCY DISABILITY LEAVE & FAMILY MEDICAL LEAVE	12 12 13 13 14 14
SECTION 18. SECTION 19. SECTION 20. SECTION 21. SECTION 22. SECTION 23.	CATASTROPHIC ILLNESS LEAVE JURY DUTY LEAVE OF ABSENCE WITHOUT PAY PREGNANCY DISABILITY LEAVE & FAMILY MEDICAL LEAVE LAYOFF	12 12 13 13 14 14 16
SECTION 18. SECTION 19. SECTION 20. SECTION 21. SECTION 22. SECTION 23. SECTION 24.	CATASTROPHIC ILLNESS LEAVE JURY DUTY LEAVE OF ABSENCE WITHOUT PAY PREGNANCY DISABILITY LEAVE & FAMILY MEDICAL LEAVE LAYOFF RESIGNATION	12 12 13 13 14 14 16 17
SECTION 18. SECTION 20. SECTION 21. SECTION 22. SECTION 23. SECTION 24. SECTION 25.	CATASTROPHIC ILLNESS LEAVE JURY DUTY LEAVE OF ABSENCE WITHOUT PAY PREGNANCY DISABILITY LEAVE & FAMILY MEDICAL LEAVE LAYOFF RESIGNATION EMPLOYEE BENEFITS	12 12 13 13 14 14 16 17 19
SECTION 18. SECTION 19. SECTION 20. SECTION 21. SECTION 22. SECTION 23. SECTION 24. SECTION 25. SECTION 26.	CATASTROPHIC ILLNESS LEAVE	12 12 13 13 14 14 14 16 17 19 19
SECTION 18. SECTION 20. SECTION 21. SECTION 22. SECTION 23. SECTION 24. SECTION 25. SECTION 26. SECTION 27.	CATASTROPHIC ILLNESS LEAVE	12 12 13 13 13 14 14 14 16 17 19 19 19 



SECTION 30. MISCELLANEOUS	20
SECTION 31. DISCIPLINE	22
SECTION 32. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	23
SECTION 33. NO STRIKE CLAUSE	24
SECTION 34. NON-DISCRIMINATION	25
SECTION 35. PAST PRACTICES AND EXISTING MEMORANDA OF UNDERSTANDI	ING25
SECTION 36. SEPARABILITY OF PROVISIONS	25
APPENDIX "A"	28

#### MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE CITY OF SAN LEANDRO AND THE SAN LEANDRO POLICE OFFICERS' ASSOCIATION

This Memorandum of Understanding is entered into pursuant to the provisions of Section 3500 et. seq. of the Government Code of the State of California.

The parties have met and conferred in good faith regarding wages, hours and other terms and conditions of employment for the employees in said representation unit, and have freely exchanged information, opinions and proposals and have endeavored to reach agreements on all matters relating to the employment conditions and employer-employee relations of such employees.

This Memorandum of Understanding shall be presented to the San Leandro City Council as the joint recommendation of the undersigned parties for salary and employee benefit adjustments for the period commencing January 1, 2020 through December 31, 2022.

#### Section 1. Recognition

#### 1.1 Association Recognition

San Leandro Police Officers' Association, hereinafter referred to as the "Association" is the recognized employee organization for the classifications shown in Appendix "A" which is attached hereto and made a part hereof.

#### 1.2 <u>City Recognition</u>

The City Manager, or any person or organization duly authorized by the City Manager, is the representative of the City of San Leandro, hereinafter referred to as the "City" in employer-employee relations.

#### Section 2. Association Security

Dues deduction shall be for a specified amount and shall be made only upon the voluntary written authorization of the member as asserted by the Association. Dues deduction will be continued until the first full pay period following notice to Human Resources by the Association that the employee's membership has been canceled or revoked.

The employee's earnings must be regularly sufficient after other legal and required deductions are made to cover the amount of the dues check-off authorized. When a member in good standing of the Association is in a non-pay status for an entire pay period, no dues withholding will be made to cover that pay period from future earnings nor will the member deposit the amount with the City which would have been withheld if the member had been in a pay status during that period. In the case of an employee who is in a non-pay status during only a part of the pay period and the pay is not sufficient to cover the full withholding, no deduction shall be made. In this connection, all other legal and required deductions have priority over Association dues.

Dues withheld by the City shall be transmitted to the Officer designated in writing by the Association as the person authorized to receive such funds, at the address specified. In the event



of a strike, work stoppage or work slowdown, by members of the Association, the City is not obligated to deduct Association dues.

The Association shall indemnify, defend, and hold the City of San Leandro harmless against any claims made and against any suit instituted against the City of San Leandro on account of check-off of Association dues, except such suit as is instituted as a direct result of the negligence of the City. In addition, the Association shall refund to the City of San Leandro any amounts paid to it in error upon presentation of supporting evidence.

#### Section 3. Advance Notice

Except in cases of emergency as provided in this section, the City Council and boards and commissions designated by law or by the City Council, shall give reasonable written notice to the Association of any ordinance, rule, resolution or regulation directly relating to matters within the scope of representation, including matters subject to consultation, proposed to be adopted by the City Council or such boards and commissions and shall give such recognized Association the opportunity to meet with the City Council or such boards and commissions. The Association shall give reasonable written notice to the Municipal Employee Relations Officer of any matter within the scope of representation, including matters subject to consultation, proposed to be communicated to the City Council or such boards and commissions.

In cases of emergency when the City Council or such boards and commissions determine that an ordinance, rule, resolution or regulation must be adopted immediately without prior notice or meeting with the Association, the City Council or such boards and commissions shall provide such notice and opportunity to meet at the earliest practicable time following the adoption of such ordinance, rule, resolution, or regulation.

#### Section 4. Association Rights

#### 4.1 <u>Reasonable Time Off to Meet and Confer and Process Grievances</u>

The Association may select not more than two employee members of such organization to attend scheduled meetings with the Municipal Employee Relations Officer or other management officials on subjects within the scope of representation during regular work hours without loss of compensation. Where circumstances warrant, the Municipal Employee Relations Officer may approve the attendance at such meetings of additional employee representatives without loss of compensation. The Association shall, whenever practicable, submit the names of all such employee representatives to the Municipal Employee Relations Officer at least two working days in advance of such meetings. Provided, further:

- A. That no Association representative shall leave a duty or workstation or assignment without approval of the Police Chief or other authorized City management official;
- B. That any such meeting is subject to scheduling by City management in a manner consistent with operating needs and work schedules. Nothing provided herein, however, shall limit or restrict City management from scheduling such meetings before or after regular duty or work hours under appropriate circumstances, provided, however, that nothing herein shall be construed to limit or restrict the right of the City or the Association to be represented in scheduled meetings.
- 4.2 Access to Work Locations

Reasonable access to employee work locations shall be granted to Officers of the Association and their officially designated representatives, for the purpose of processing grievances or contacting members of the Association concerning business within the scope of representation, excluding City Rights matters. Such Officers or representatives shall not enter any work location without the approval of the Police Chief or the Municipal Employee Relations Officer. Access shall be restricted so as not to interfere with the normal operations of the department or with established safety or security requirements.

Solicitation of membership and activities concerned with the internal management of the Association, such as collecting dues, holding membership meetings, campaigning for office, conducting elections and distributing literature, shall not be conducted during working hours without the prior approval of the Municipal Employee Relations Officer.

#### 4.3 Use of City Facilities

Association may, with the prior approval of the Municipal Employee Relations Officer, be granted the use of City facilities for Association meetings provided space is available. All such requests shall be in writing and shall state the purpose or purposes of the meeting. The City reserves the right to assess reasonable charges for the use of such facilities.

The use of City equipment other than items normally used in the conduct of business meetings, such as desks, chairs, and blackboards, is strictly prohibited unless prior approval is obtained from the Municipal Employee Relations Officer, the presence of such equipment in approved City facilities notwithstanding.

#### 4.4 Use of Bulletin Boards

Recognized employee organizations may use portions of City bulletin boards under the following conditions:

- A. All materials must be submitted to the Police Chief twenty-four (24) hours prior to posting. Materials proposed to be posted in more than one department shall be submitted directly to the Municipal Employee Relations Officer.
- B. All materials must be dated.
- C. The Police Chief shall present submitted materials to the Municipal Employee Relations Officer for approval prior to posting. The actual posting of materials will be done by the City and as soon as reasonably possible. Unless special arrangements are made, materials posted will be removed thirty-one (31) days after posting. Materials, which the Police Chief considers objectionable, will not be posted, provided, however, the Police Chief shall first discuss and receive concurrence from the Municipal Employee Relations Officer.
- D. The City reserves the right to determine where bulletin boards shall be placed and what portions of them are to be allocated to employee organizations' materials.
- E. An employee organization that does not abide by these rules shall be subject to forfeiture of its right for a period of thirty (30) days to have materials posted on City bulletin boards.

#### Section 5. City Rights

The rights of the City include, but are not limited to, the exclusive right to determine the mission of its constituent departments, commissions and boards; set standards of service; determine the procedures and standards of selection for employment and promotion; direct its employees; take disciplinary action; relieve its employees from duty because of lack of work or for other legitimate reasons; maintain the efficiency of governmental operations; determine the methods, means and personnel by which government operations are to be conducted; determine the content of job classifications; take all necessary actions to carry out its mission in emergencies; and exercise complete control and discretion over its organization and the technology of performing its work.

#### Section 6. Pay and Classification

The recognized classifications and those rates of pay, which are to be effective during the period of this Memorandum of Understanding, are enumerated in Appendix "A" which is attached hereto and made a part hereof.

The appendix reflects wage adjustments as follows:

A one (1%) percent across the salary schedule adjustment effective January 1, 2020.

A one and three-quarters (1.75%) percent across the salary schedule adjustment effective July 1, 2020.

A two and three-quarters (2.75%) percent across the salary schedule adjustment effective July 1, 2021.

A two (2%) percent across the salary schedule adjustment effective July 1, 2022.

A one and one-half (1.50%) percent across the salary schedule adjustment effective October 1, 2022.

Normal step increase rules shall apply.

The City will maintain a twenty percent (20%) differential between the rank of Officer and Sergeant.

A. Salary Steps for Rank of Police Officer and Police Sergeant

With regard to probationary unit members, advancement to step 2 shall occur upon completion of the requisite period of time *on the job* (i.e., excluding paid and unpaid leave equal to or greater than four weeks) and the successful completion of probation. Paid and unpaid absences of four weeks or more shall extend the probationary period by a corresponding amount of time.

#### Section 7. Overtime Compensation & "Call-out" Pay

Overtime work is authorized time of one-quarter hour or more worked in excess of that period considered as a full week's work in the classification.

When first authorized by the Police Chief or designee, overtime worked shall be paid at the rate of one and one-half times the hourly rate based on the employee's monthly salary. For the

purpose of overtime-minimum pay, "Required call-out" is defined as an event for which an Officer's assistance is required. With the exception of court appearances, the event referred to in the preceding sentence is one that is not anticipated and therefore unscheduled and not contiguous to the regular work shift. For required call-out or court appearance on a normal work day, a minimum three (3) hours' pay at the overtime rate will be paid for the first such call-out or court appearance, provided, however, that court appearances immediately before or after scheduled duty hours shall be deemed an extension of the shift and the three hour minimum shall not apply. Call-out minimum pay would not be given in the case of posted and scheduled details on an Officer's day off unless four (4) hours have elapsed since the Officer last worked. Officers would be paid for the actual time spent performing the scheduled activity. For required call-out or authorized work related appearance on a normal day off, a minimum five (5) hours' pay at the overtime rate will be paid for each of the first two such call-outs, provided, however, that a callout on a normal day off immediately before or after scheduled duty hours shall be deemed an extension of the shift and the five (5) hour minimum shall not apply. For court appearance on a normal day off, a minimum five (5) hours' pay at the overtime rate will be paid, plus payment of necessary and actual expenses. For court appearances that extend through the court's lunch period and the employee is required to return on the same case that same afternoon, the employee will be paid for that period of time at the overtime rate except for a one (1) hour lunch period. At the employee's request, and with the approval of the Police Chief, compensatory time off may be granted in an amount equal to one and one-half time the overtime worked in lieu of pay.

The term "compensatory time off" refers to that time earned and accrued by working overtime. Compensatory time off may be used, and replaced, without regard to frequency of use, as long as the account balance does not exceed 120 hours. Once an employee's compensatory time off balance exceeds 120 hours, the employee shall be compensated in pay.

An employee may schedule accrued compensatory time off and the Department will schedule a relief employee as available. If not available, the Department will post the vacancy for a volunteer employee to sign for, on an overtime basis. The volunteer employee will only be compensated in pay for the overtime worked at the overtime rate of one and one-half times the hourly rate based on the employee's monthly salary. This process shall be consistent with the San Leandro Police Department sign-up procedures.

In the event an employee is ordered by a magistrate to appear in court and does appear on a day during which the employee has called in sick, the employee will be paid overtime at the rate listed for court appearance, except that employees working the day shift shall not be paid overtime, but the hours spent at the court appearance shall not be deducted from his/her accumulated sick leave hours.

#### Section 8. Canine Pay and Assignment Differentials

8.1. <u>Canine Pay</u>: Police Officers assigned as canine handlers are required to care for their assigned animal, which shall include grooming, feeding, exercising, training, bathing and all other responsibilities associated with caring for a canine. Officers assigned as canine handlers shall receive additional pay in the amount of five percent (5%) when the Officer is responsible for the care of the dog. This amount is in recognition of the additional time required to care for the animal during non-regular duty hours, which the parties estimate in good faith as an additional two hours per week. This additional pay will compensate Police Officers fully for caring for their canine during non-regular duty hours. If the Officer is unable to perform as a canine handler due to a non-work related injury or other non-work related cause, for a period that exceeds 30 consecutive days, the five percent (5%)

additional pay will cease. It will be reinstated when the handler returns to full duty and is functioning as a canine team. The stipend will also cease after 90 consecutive days should the dog not be able to work due to an injury or other medical reasons. During the time the Officer and dog are assigned and perform in the program, the City will provide a separate monthly maintenance allowance of two hundred dollars (\$200.00) as reimbursement for housing, taking care of and feeding the dog. In the event the dog cannot work due to an injury or other medical reasons, the maintenance allowance shall continue for a period of up to ninety (90) calendar days from the date of the dog's disability. If it is medically determined during this ninety (90) day period that the dog will not be able to return to full duty, the maintenance allowance shall cease as of the date of such determination.

- 8.2. <u>Field Technician Pay</u>: Effective January 1, 2020, Police Officers acting in the capacity of Field Technicians shall be paid an additional fifty dollars (\$50.00) per day, while performing that duty.
- 8.3. <u>Field Training Officer Pay</u>: Police Officers acting in the capacity of Field Training Officer (FTO) shall be paid an additional eighty dollars (\$80.00) per day, while performing that duty.
- 8.4. <u>Bilingual Pay</u>: Effective January 1, 2020, Police Officers utilizing bilingual skills shall be paid an additional two hundred dollars (\$200.00) per month while performing bilingual services. Bilingual skills shall be those certified in advance of their performance pursuant to a testing process established by the City prior to compensation for such services. Bilingual pay shall apply to the following languages: Spanish, Chinese, American Sign Language, and other languages as determined by the Human Resources Division. Recertification of bilingual skills shall occur every three years.
- 8.5. <u>Shift Differentials:</u> Police Officers and Police Sergeants assigned to work the patrol division and who work a regularly assigned shift during which at least 50% of the hours are between 1500 and 2400 hours shall receive an additional 3% of current base pay for the entire shift.

Police Officers and Police Sergeants assigned to the patrol division and who work a regularly assigned shift during which at least 50% of the hours are between 2400 and 0700 hours shall receive an additional 5% of current base pay for the entire shift.

- 8.6. <u>Assignment Differentials</u>: Effective January 1, 2020, sworn Officers in the classifications of Police Sergeant and Police Officer assigned to Investigations, Traffic, Administration and Crime Prevention shall receive an additional 5% of current base pay. A call-in procedure for the Investigation Division shall be agreed to between the Police Officers' Association and the Police Chief.
- 8.7. <u>Hazard Premium Pay-Mental Health Crisis Intervention Training</u>: In recognition of the fact that law enforcement personnel are routinely and consistently exposed to uniquely hazardous conditions arising from interactions with the mentally ill, and are required to complete specialized training intended to enhance sworn personnel's ability to perform the hazardous and specialized mental health related law enforcement duties, the City will pay a Hazard Premium Pay to employees who have completed the Crisis Intervention Training (CIT). Police Officers and Police Sergeants who have completed the CIT will receive a premium in the amount of four percent (4%) of base pay. It is the mutual understanding and intent of the parties that CIT pay qualifies as special compensation under CCR 571.

In the event that the City or the Association learns that CIT will not be recognized as special compensation, the parties will reopen negotiations on the narrow and specific issue of providing the compensation associated with CIT in a manner that complies with CaIPERS reporting requirements.

8.8. <u>Drone Technician Pay</u>: Effective January 1, 2020, employees assigned as Drone Technicians shall be paid an additional fifteen dollars (\$15.00) per shift, while performing that duty. It is the understanding that this pay shall be reported to CalPERS as Aircraft/Helicopter Premium in recognition that Drone Technicians are required to obtain an FAA remote pilot certificate for the operation of a small unmanned aircraft. In the event that the City or the Association learns that Drone Technician Pay will not be recognized as special compensation, the parties will reopen negotiations on the narrow and specific issue of providing the compensation associated with Drone Technicians in a manner that complies with CalPERS reporting requirements.

#### Section 9. Application of Pay Rates

9.1 Pay for Employees in an "Acting" Capacity

Employees may be assigned to perform the duties of a permanent position in a higher classification on a temporary basis. Such assignments shall be termed "acting assignments" and shall be made subject to the following conditions:

- A. Acting assignments shall be made by the Police Chief only, with City Manager approval, and shall be made prior to the beginning of the shift and with written notification to the acting employee;
- B. Acting assignments shall be made only in those instances where the acting employee will be responsible for the performance of the full range of duties of the higher classification for not less than one (1) full workday;
- C. Acting pay shall be the step in the salary range of the higher classification that represents an increase closest to, but not less than 5% above the acting employee's current salary, not to exceed the maximum step of the higher classification's salary range;
- D. An employee who is receiving acting pay by reason of assignment to a position in the Management Organization or Police Management Association shall be entitled to receive overtime compensation during such period of assignment for overtime work involving the duties of the acting position;
- E. Employees who qualify for acting pay shall be compensated at their acting pay salary level during periods of approved leave, during the acting assignment. In the event that such an employee is absent from work because of illness or injury for five consecutive days, the City may terminate the employee's acting assignment and the additional compensation provided therefore.

Nothing in this section shall preclude the temporary assignment of an employee to perform some of the duties of a higher classification for the purpose of providing training in the work of the higher classification. Such temporary training assignment shall not constitute acting assignment within the meaning of this section and shall receive no additional compensation. It is understood that the above provision shall not be interpreted as requiring the City to fill each temporary vacancy by an acting assignment.

#### Section 10. Educational Incentive Program

Permanent employees shall be eligible for the educational incentive program for obtaining the following certificates or degrees:

Catego	ory	Certificate	Monthly Amount
Α	-	P.I.	4%
В		P.A.	6.5%
		P.A. (effective 1/1/21)	7.5%
		P.A. (effective 1/1/22)	8%
		or	
С		A.A.	4%
D		Bac.	6%
	Legend:	P.I. = POST Intermed P.A.= POST Advance A.A.= Associate Degr Bac.= Baccalaureate	ed ree

Employees may only receive compensation for one Educational Incentive Program category. Payment shall be included in the employee's biweekly paycheck.

#### Section 11. Longevity

Police Officers and Police Sergeants who have completed fifteen (15) years of continuous sworn service with the City of San Leandro shall receive two percent (2%) of current base pay.

Police Officers and Police Sergeants who have completed twenty (20) years of continuous sworn service with the City of San Leandro shall receive four percent (4%) of current base pay.

Police Officers and Police Sergeants who have completed twenty-five (25) years of continuous sworn service with the City of San Leandro shall receive five percent (5%) of current base pay.

Employees hired prior to January 1, 2020 who held full-time positions as Jailer, Public Safety Dispatcher (I/II/Supervisor), or Police Service Technician (I/II/Supervisor) with the City of San Leandro, shall be credited for their continuous time served towards the longevity thresholds set forth, above.

#### Section 12. Uniform Allowance

The uniform allowance shall be \$1,600. Uniform allowance payments shall be made in a separate check during the month of July.

For the period of this Memorandum of Understanding, a Police Officer regularly assigned to motorcycle duties shall receive at the beginning of the assignment two (2) sets of motorcycle pants, a leather jacket, boots, a helmet plus any other necessary safety equipment.

8

#### Section 13. Holidays

Each employee represented by the Association shall be entitled to one floating holiday, which shall be scheduled at time mutually convenient to the employee and the Police Chief. The floating holiday must be taken during each calendar year and may not be carried over to another calendar year or converted to pay.

Employees shall receive a 7% holiday pay premium in lieu of holiday overtime pay and accruing holiday time. Holiday-in-lieu pay shall be paid in equal amounts in each pay period.

Employees wishing to take a holiday off must use accrued leaves. Employee requests for time off on a City holiday will be granted for those working assignments other than patrol. Employees assigned to patrol will have time off requests approved subject to existing practice for time off requests. At his/her discretion, the Police Chief may require that specified holidays must be taken off by all employees working assignments other than patrol, however such directives must apply uniformly to all non-patrol assignments.

#### Section 14. Annual Vacation Leave

14.1 The purpose of annual vacation leave is to enable each eligible employee to return to work physically and mentally refreshed. In the administration of this section, administrative personnel shall be guided by this stated purpose. Full vacation leave shall be taken at one time. However, the Police Chief, under appropriate circumstances may permit a modification of this requirement. The time at which an employee shall take vacation leave during the calendar year shall be determined with due regard for the needs of the department. The vacation/holiday sign-up will be posted in the authorized work locations of the respective divisions for sworn employees of the Police Department not later than November 1, to be completed by December 1, for the next calendar year.

Vacation leave may be accumulated to a maximum of two and one half (2.5) years' vacation entitlement and upon the approval of the Police Chief may be taken in one (1) calendar year. Such approval shall be recorded in the employee's personnel file. An employee who fails to take accrued vacation leave within the time herein prescribed shall cease accruing vacation leave until vacation usage reduces below the prescribed limit.

An employee who is in unpaid status for 44 or more hours in a pay period shall not accrue vacation leave for that pay period.

Upon being separated from City service, an eligible employee shall be entitled to compensation for any accrued but unused vacation calculated at the rate of pay at the time of termination.

The following vacation leave provisions do not apply to hourly or part-time employees.

14.2 Vacation leave for each full-time employee shall be accrued and credited for the pay period in which it is earned pursuant to the following accrual schedule effective January 1, 2020:

YEARS OF SERVICE	DAYS/HRS OF
	VACATION ACCRUAL
0-4.99 completed yrs of svc.	12.00/96 or 15.00/120
5.00-5.99 yrs of service	15.75/126
6.00-6.99 yrs of service	16.50/132
7.00-7.99 yrs of service	17.25/138
8.00-8.99 yrs of service	18.00/144
9.00-9.99 yrs of service	18.75/150
10.00-10.99 yrs of service	19.50/156
11.00-11.99 yrs of service	20.25/162
12.00-12.99 yrs of service	21.00/168
13.00-13.99 yrs of service	21.75/174
14.00-14.99 yrs of service	22.50/180
15.00-15.99 yrs of service	23.25/186
16.00-16.99 yrs of service	24.00/192
17.00-17.99 yrs of service	24.75/198
18.00 or more yrs of service	25.00/200

A newly hired employee holding a full-time position shall be entitled to vacation leave at the rate of 96 hours per year; however, if a newly hired employee possesses five (5) years of law enforcement experience, he/she shall accrue vacation leave at the rate of 120 hours per year.

In the year in which an employee holding a full-time position completes five (5) full years of City service, such employee shall be entitled to 126 hours of vacation for service performed. For each full year of full-time City service completed thereafter, 6 hours of vacation shall be added up to a maximum of 200 hours of vacation.

- 14.3 If a member is on medical leave as a result of an on-duty injury or illness, the member's vacation accrual shall continue. Upon return to duty, the member shall utilize the vacation accrued while on medical leave within twelve (12) months of return to duty. The vacation utilization shall be in accordance with established department vacation sign-up procedures.
- 14.4 Employees shall be allowed to sell up to 120 hours of vacation per year. The conversion will be based upon the hourly rate at the time of the sell back. Time may be sold twice annually in June and December.

#### Section 15. Sick Leave

The object of sick leave is to provide orderly methods of furthering the health and safety of each employee as well as aiding in the maintenance of productivity.

Sick leave is not a right, which an employee can use at his or her discretion, but a privilege, which can be allowed only in case of actual sickness, or non-job-incurred injury of such employee, or of such employee's immediate family, which compels the employee to be absent from work.

In order to qualify for paid sick leave, notification must be given to the work unit supervisor as soon as practicable, but at least thirty (30) minutes prior to the start of the regular work day. Waiver of this reporting requirement can be made by the Police Chief only, and only in specific

unusual circumstances. Absence for illness may not be charged to sick leave not already accumulated.

An employee holding a full-time position with probationary or permanent status may be allowed a leave of absence from duty without loss of pay on account of sickness or injury. Sick leave with pay is cumulative at the rate of one (1) workday for each month of service beginning at the time of full-time probationary employment. Unused sick leave may be accumulated to a total of two thousand four hundred (2400) hours.

In the event employee absences from duty are deemed by the Police Chief to be the result of concerted activity, any employee claiming sick leave with pay shall be required to provide a doctor's certificate verifying the employee was seen by the health care provider. The certification should include the name and signature of the attending physician, the time and date the employee was seen by the physician, and stipulate any period of incapacity or job-related restrictions that prevents the employee from performing the job. The Police Chief may also require that the evidence submitted by the employee be reviewed by a physician selected by the City and may require a physical examination by such physician at the City's expense. In those instances where the Police Chief requires that this procedure be followed, it is understood that the burden of proof to qualify for sick leave with pay is placed upon the employee.

Sick leave shall not be granted to an employee who is absent from duty due to illness or injury incurred while self-employed or working for an employer other than the City of San Leandro. The benefits provided under this section shall not be available to employees whose absence is caused by sickness or injury arising within the course and scope of City employment.

An employee who is in unpaid status for 44 or more hours in a pay period shall not accrue sick leave for that pay period.

Except as hereinafter provided, payment for unused sick leave will be granted to full-time regular employees who are represented by the San Leandro Police Officers' Association with at least fifteen (15) years' continuous City service, including full-time service in an annexed jurisdiction, at termination, retirement or resignation in good standing based on salary at termination pursuant to the following schedule: Number of sick leave days accumulated, multiplied by seven and one-half percent (7 ½%), multiplied by the number of whole years of service, multiplied by the hourly rate at termination. The above formula figure of seven and one-half percent (7 ½%) will be adjusted to ten percent (10%) for an employee who terminates City service after completing twenty-five (25) years of uninterrupted City service by way of termination, service retirement or resignation in good standing with the City.

Upon an employee's retirement, sick leave may be used as: (1) service credit on an hour for hour basis, (2) cash in accordance with the above-mentioned formula; or (3) any combination of service credit and cash as requested by the employee. The combination of sick leave hours converted to service credit and sick leave hours cashed out shall never exceed the total number of accrued sick leave hours.

Actively employed employees formally represented by the San Leandro Police Officers' Association who die or are permanently disabled as a result of an accident which is held to be compensable by the Workers' Compensation Appeals Board will receive payment for unused sick leave according to the seven and one-half percent (7  $\frac{1}{2}$ %) formula above without regard to length of continuous City service.

#### Section 16. Funeral Leave

In the event of death in the immediate family of an employee who has one (1) or more years of continuous service with the City, the employee shall, upon request to the supervisor, be granted such time off with pay as is necessary to make arrangements for the funeral and attend same, not to exceed three (3) workdays; additional funeral leave may be granted, not to exceed a total of five (5) calendar days when such death and/or funeral is outside of the nine (9) Bay Area counties. This provision does not apply if the death and/or funeral occur during the employee's paid vacation, or while the employee is on leave of absence, layoff, sick leave, or any other leave status.

Funeral leave applies only in instances in which the employee attends the funeral or is required to make funeral arrangements but is not applicable for other purposes such as settling the estate of the deceased. It is understood, however, that leave, as provided in the preceding paragraph, may be granted to commence prior to the decease of a member of the employee's immediate family. Such paid absence shall be charged to bereavement leave, with full salary payment permitted upon the favorable recommendation of the Police Chief and Human Resources Manager and upon the approval of the City Manager.

The immediate family of an employee includes spouse, child, parent, sister, brother, grandchild, grandparent, parent-in-law, or stepparent where there is a child-rearing relationship.

The foregoing funeral leave provisions do not apply to hourly or part-time employees.

#### Section 17. Military Leave

Military leave shall be granted in accordance with the provision of the California State Law. An employee entitled to, and taking, military leave shall provide, through appropriate chain of command, the Police Chief with orders calling him/her to active military duty. The Police Chief, within the limits of military necessity and regulations, may determine when such leave shall be taken. Upon returning from military leave, an employee shall provide, when applicable, copies of military release papers.

#### Section 18. Catastrophic Illness Leave

The objective of this section is to complement the City's wellness program for employees by improving health benefits in instances of catastrophic illness, and thereby aid employees to do better work.

An employee holding a full-time position with permanent status who has completed two (2) full years of continuous service shall be eligible for the catastrophic illness leave benefit upon receiving a prior favorable recommendation therefore from the Police Chief and only upon the specific approval of the City Manager. To be eligible for leave under this section, such employee must be unable to work at the position or any less demanding position to which assigned by the Police Chief, and must have exhausted all accumulated sick leave, vacation, holiday, overtime and all other accumulated leave or pay benefits.

The same principles concerning the administration of the sick leave benefits shall be used for this benefit where applicable.

<sup>80</sup> 

#### Section 19. Jury Duty

Any employee who has one (1) or more years of continuous service with the City, when reporting for jury service as specified by summons, will be entitled to the difference between jury duty pay and the regular daily rate of pay for each day of jury service up to a maximum of fifteen (15) working days during any twelve (12) consecutive months.

Employees scheduled to work the graveyard shift immediately preceding a day of jury duty as above defined will not be required to work such shift and will receive jury duty pay in lieu thereof, subject to the foregoing maximum limitation.

Any day or swing shift employee scheduled to begin service on a jury before 12:00 noon shall not be required to report to work beforehand. Any employee released from jury duty prior to 12:30 p.m., shall report to work for the balance of the shift.

An employee who is scheduled for jury service or who serves on a jury on Friday and Monday will not be required to work on a Saturday or Sunday unless it is at the overtime rate of pay. Days of jury duty and all fees paid shall be verified by the court official responsible for issuing checks in payment of jury service. Service not paid for by the court is not covered by this section.

#### Section 20. Leave of Absence Without Pay

A leave of absence may be granted to an employee when it would improve the quality of the employee's job performance for the City government or when such leave is in other ways considered to be in the best interest of the City service. This could include leave for such purposes as additional job-related education or training, or extended illness not covered by accumulated sick leave.

For the purposes of this section, a leave of absence is defined as a privilege which may be granted to an employee wishing to leave the City service in good standing without pay for a limited period. Such employee must make a written request to the supervisor for such leave, stating the dates of leave and return and the reason for the request. The Police Chief must submit a written statement giving the reasons for recommending the approval of each request, after considering such factors as employee work performance, whether loss of services would be detrimental to the City's interest, availability of replacements and similar pertinent factors. The City Manager may approve or disapprove the recommendation of the Police Chief to allow a leave of absence for a period not to exceed six (6) months. Approval may be given to extend a leave of absence for one (1) additional period not to exceed six (6) months.

At the expiration of any leave of absence, an employee of this City may be required to submit to medical examinations to determine that the employee is still capable of performing the duties of the position.

An employee absent before leave of absence has been granted is absent without leave, and such conduct shall be proper grounds for discharge. Upon the expiration of a regularly approved leave of absence the employee shall be reinstated in the position held at the time such leave was granted, unless while on such leave the employee's conduct constitutes cause for discharge. Failure on the part of an employee on leave of absence to report to work promptly at its expiration shall be cause for discharge.

#### Section 21. Pregnancy Disability Leave & Family Medical Leave

Such leaves shall be in accordance with City Administrative Procedure 1600, Family and Medical Leave Request Process; Administrative Procedure 1630, Pregnancy Disability Leave Process, and applicable State and/or Federal laws.

#### Section 22. Layoff

If a reduction in the work force, as determined by the City Manager is necessitated by, but not limited to, the following: a material change in duties or organization, adverse working conditions, return of employee from leave of absence, or shortage of work or funds; the City Manager shall notify the affected employee(s) of the intended action and the reason for the layoff.

Immediately following a decision which may involve the potential layoff of employees, the City Manager shall freeze all current vacancies in the Police Department in similar and related classifications to those likely to be targeted for layoff, and notify the Police Chief that such current and anticipated vacancies will be frozen until further notice.

As determined by official City payroll records: all service in the employ of the City shall be counted toward the establishment of an employee's City Seniority Service Date, including, for example, permanent, probationary, provisional, temporary (full-time and intermittent), as well as leaves of absences for obligatory military service while an employee with the City. Less than full-time service will be consolidated in equivalences of full-time service for the purpose of establishing the City Seniority Service Date. Time off as a result of formal disciplinary action will be subtracted from the City Seniority Service Date.

All full-time services in the employ of the City in a promotional rank above the entry level rank shall be counted toward the establishment of an employee's Seniority Service Date for that rank, including probationary and permanent status service as well as leave of absences for obligatory military service while an employee of the City. Time off as a result of disciplinary action will be subtracted from the Rank Seniority Service Date.

In computing both City and Rank Seniority, all time spent on paid leave of absence shall be included and all time spent on unpaid leave of absence shall be excluded. Unpaid absences equal to or greater than one full pay period will extend the Adjusted Service Date, which governs vacation accrual advancement. The Adjusted Service Date referenced within this section shall not apply in the determination of Departmental seniority within the Police Department when used for the purposes of vacation signup, shift signup, or any other bidding process that orders the selection process by Departmental seniority. Departmental seniority will be based upon the date hired without respect to any leaves of absence approved by the Police Chief or associated to time off protected by the Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA).

Whenever a layoff of one or more employees becomes necessary, as defined above, such layoffs shall be made according to classification Seniority Lists. Upon receiving notification that the City Manager will proceed with a possible reduction in the work force, and following receipt of information concerning the specific positions involved, the Human Resources Division will establish separate Probationary and Permanent Seniority Lists for each classification targeted for layoff.

The names of all City employees holding permanent and probationary status appointments in a given classification will be listed on the appropriate list in descending order by City Seniority Service Date in the entry level positions and by Rank Seniority Service Date in the promotional

position of Police Sergeant. Except as provided in retreat rights below, employees on all lists shall be laid off on the basis of their Seniority Service Date, (i.e., employees with the least amount of total service shall be laid off first). All emergency, temporary, and provisional employees working in classifications similar to those identified for layoff must be terminated prior to the layoff of probationary or permanent status employees. Employees on the Probationary Status Seniority List for a specific classification will be laid off prior to employees on the Permanent Status Seniority List for that class.

Probationary or permanent status employees temporarily acting out of classification or holding a provisional appointment in another classification will only be listed on a Seniority List of the class in which they hold permanent or probationary status targeted for layoff.

If two (2) or more employees on a Seniority List have identical Seniority Service Dates, the tie shall be broken based on established Departmental procedures for awarding serial numbers in such instances.

Before an employee with permanent or probationary status may be laid off from employment with the City of San Leandro, consideration must be given to the employee's right to voluntarily demote to a lower level classification from which he or she was originally promoted or any subsequently created intermediate level classification for which the employee possesses the basic minimum qualifications.

In the process of retreating, the Rank Seniority Date List shall be utilized. Employees with the least amount of Rank Seniority shall retreat first. Any voluntary demotion to a rank below the employee's current rank shall be based on a Rank Seniority Date which is derived from a combination of all credited service in the rank to which the employee has voluntarily demoted and all credited service in higher ranks held on a probationary or permanent status.

The demoting employee has a right to be retained in the highest pay step possible, which is equal to or less than his or her present pay step. An employee involved in a layoff does not have a right of mandatory placement to positions with a higher pay step, i.e. promotion.

Provisional employees shall be notified individually, in writing, of pending layoff as soon as possible, with no less than fifteen (15) calendar days' notification if targeted for release or reassignment.

Permanent and probationary status employees should be notified individually, in writing, of pending layoffs as soon as possible, with no less than fifteen (15) calendar days' notification if targeted for release or demotion. Notice to an employee absent from work for any reason shall be sent by U.S. Mail - Return Receipt Requested.

If an employee fails to accept a bona fide offer of demotion within five (5) calendar days after receipt of the offer, the employee forfeits further right to employment retention. Acceptance of a demotion does not remove the right of appeal under the appeal procedure described below.

The names of all probationary and permanent employees released or demoted from positions in the competitive service as a result of layoff or demotion must be placed on Reemployment Lists for those classifications from which the employee was removed, as well as all other classifications to which they have demotion rights in accordance with employee retreat rights.

The Reemployment List for employees who were laid off shall remain in effect for two (2) years from the date of the layoff. Said list shall remain in effect indefinitely for employees who were demoted.

Vacancies in any classification for which there is an active Reemployment List must use the Reemployment List to fill their positions and may not use any other recruitment or appointment method to fill a vacancy until appropriate Reemployment Lists have been exhausted.

When a vacancy occurs in a class for which there is a Reemployment List, the name of the employee on the appropriate Reemployment List with the highest Seniority Date shall be certified to the Police Chief. Employees so certified from the Reemployment Priority List must be appointed to the existing vacancy.

If a former employee fails to accept a bona fide written offer of reemployment with five (5) calendar days after receipt of the offer, his or her name will be removed permanently from the Reemployment List from which the offer was made. Failure to accept an offer of reemployment to the class with the highest pay step for which the employee is eligible for reemployment will result in automatic removal from all Reemployment Lists. However, the employee may decline (or accept) reemployment to a lower pay step classification without jeopardizing his or her standing on the Reemployment List for the classification from which he or she was originally terminated.

Upon reappointment to the classification from which the employee was originally separated or demoted, the employee has the right to be placed at the pay step, which the employee held at the time of layoff or demotion.

Upon reappointment to the classification from which the employee was originally separated or demoted, a medical examination may be required to determine compliance with physical/mental requirements of the position to which the employee is being reappointed. Such examination(s) shall be performed by a City designated physician and shall be at City expense.

Any permanent or probationary status employee, who is laid off or demoted as a result of layoff, who believes that the layoff procedure has been improperly administered as it pertains to the employee's case, may appeal the action under the Grievance Procedure. In addition, employees may, at all times, before, during and subsequent to layoff, review all records, including Seniority Lists, Reemployment Lists, which pertain to their classification and their rights under the provisions of the layoff policy.

#### Section 23. Resignation

An employee wishing to leave City employment in good standing shall file with the supervisor at least two (2) weeks before leaving the City service a written resignation stating the effective date of resignation and reasons for leaving.

The resignation shall be forwarded to Human Resources with a statement by the Police Chief as to the resigned employee's service performance and other pertinent information concerning the cause for resignation.

Failure of an employee to comply with this rule shall be entered on the service record of the employee and may be cause for denying future employment by the City. The resignation of an employee who fails to give notice shall be reported to Human Resources immediately.

84

#### Section 24. Employee Benefits

24.1 The IRS 125 plan shall continue. The plan shall provide the following:

- A. Pretax conversion of employee contribution toward medical premiums.
- B. Medical Flexible Spending Account with a maximum employee pretax contribution as determine by the IRS for the benefit plan year.
- C. Dependent Care Flexible Spending Account with a maximum employee pretax contribution as determine by the IRS for the benefit plan year.

The City will maintain a "core flex" medical benefit plan. The core shall consist of the CalPERS Medical plan and a dental plan.

24.2 Effective with the January 2020 benefit month contributions, the City will contribute the monthly amounts below, which includes the CalPERS Medical Plan "employer minimum share" contribution, towards the election of medical and dental benefits in the plan, or the actual premiums, whichever is less:

Coverage Level	<u>City Pays</u>
<u>Medical</u> Employee only Employee + 1 Employee + 2 or more	\$   768.49 \$1,536.98 \$1,998.07
<u>Dental</u> Employee only Employee +1	\$ 48.15 \$ 91.45

Employee +2 or more

In January 2021 and 2022, the City will pay 70% of the increase in medical and dental premiums based on Kaiser and the dental core plans (e.g., 2021 premiums minus 2020 premiums, multiplied by 70%.).

\$142.55

Employees electing not to enroll in the core flex medical plan (i.e., who wish to waive enrollment in the medical and dental plans) and demonstrate to the satisfaction of the City their enrollment in another group medical and dental plan, shall receive the amounts specified below. In the event both spouses are employed by the City and eligible to enroll in the City's flex medical benefits plan, one employee may elect not to enroll in the medical and dental plans and will receive the two hundred and fifty dollars (\$250.00) per month payment if enrolled under the spouse's coverage.

Opt-out premiums will be as follows, based on the employee's status and eligibility, in accordance with Internal Revenue Code (IRC) timelines and qualifying events:

Employee rate:	Medical \$200 +/or dental \$50 = \$250/month maximum
Two-party rate:	Medical \$350 +/or dental \$50 = \$400/month maximum
Family rate:	Medical \$500 +/or dental \$50 = \$550/month maximum

Re-enrollment in the medical and/or dental plan shall be allowed only based upon a qualifying event as defined by the IRS codes or during an open enrollment period.

- 24.3 No change in dental plan carrier, or level of benefits shall be made unless agreed to by the Police Officers' Association.
- 24.4 The City agrees to continue to provide to employees an Employee Assistance Program. It is agreed that such program shall not be an automatic substitution for appropriate disciplinary action when such action is appropriate.

#### 24.5 Retiree Benefits

Under CalPERS rules, the City will directly contribute the "employer minimum share" towards retiree health coverage. Additional retiree health contributions will be made on a reimbursement basis as set forth below. The amounts listed below are inclusive of the CalPERS Medical Plan "employer minimum share."

24.6 For employees retiring prior to March 1, 1998, the City shall pay the contributions required by the health plans' two-party rate for retired City employees who were assigned to classifications represented by the San Leandro Police Officers' Association and who are currently members of one of the City's CalPERS health plans. The City shall contribute to the health plan two-party rate costs until the retired employee is eligible for Medicare coverage. The maximum amount to be contributed by the City may not exceed three hundred sixty dollars (\$360.00). In the event the amount required by the health plan exceeds the maximum City contribution, such exceess amount shall be paid by the retiree.

Employees retiring on or after March 1, 1998 but before February 28, 2002, shall have the following option regarding medical insurance:

The City shall implement a "Medicare risk" medical insurance plan (open only to those employees who are eligible for Medicare at age 65) and shall contribute up to forty dollars (\$40.00) per month toward the cost of the Medicare risk premium. For current employees not eligible for Medicare at age 65, the City shall continue to provide medical insurance coverage until age 70 at one half of the pre-65 contribution rate as set forth in this section.

24.7 For employees hired prior to January 1, 2007 with fifteen (15) or more years of City service and retiring on or after March 1, 2002, the City shall contribute a maximum of four hundred sixty dollars (\$460.00) towards the health and dental plans for retired City employees who were assigned to classifications represented by the San Leandro Police Officers' Association and were members of the City's Health and Dental Plan. The City will continue its contribution until the employee is eligible for Medicare coverage (at age 65) or reaches age 70.

For employees who are eligible for Medicare at age 65, the City will contribute up to two hundred dollars (\$200.00) per month towards the cost of a Medicare Risk Program and Dental Insurance until the age of 70.

24.8 For employees hired on or after January 1, 2007, who have rendered fifteen (15) years of City service as a Police Officer, the City shall pay the contributions required by health plan two-party rate for retired City employees who were assigned to classifications represented by the San Leandro Police Officers' Association and who are members of one of the City's health plans at the time of retirement. The City shall contribute a maximum of three hundred and sixty dollars (\$360.00) towards the health and dental plans for retired City employees who are assigned to classifications represented by the San Leandro Police Officers' Association and were members of the City's health and dental plans. In the event the amounts required by the health plans exceed the maximum City contribution, such excess amounts shall be paid by the retiree. Coverage under this section shall continue until the employee's 65<sup>th</sup> birthday; except for the CalPERS Medical Plan "employer minimum share" retiree health contribution, which shall continue for life.

24.9 Retired employee dependent eligibility for City health plan contribution is conditional upon the active enrollment of the retired employee. If a retired employee moves outside the service area of their medical plan, the retiree will be allowed an opportunity within thirty (30) days of such move to change medical insurance coverage. If a retired employee remarries, the retiree may add the retiree's spouse to the medical and dental insurance coverage at the City's expense, not to exceed the applicable rate based on date of hire, date of retirement and City service as outlined above.

#### Section 25. Retirement Plan – Two-tier System

- 25.1 The City shall continue to contract with the California Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS) to provide retirement benefit programs for the term of this Memorandum of Understanding.
- 25.2 **Tier One:** For employees hired by the City into the Association prior to January 1, 2013, or for "classic" members of CalPERS hired after January 1, 2013, the City's contract with CalPERS provides the 3% @ age 50 retirement formula, fourth level 1959 Survivors Benefit and the Military Service credit, with 12 months final compensation.

Employees shall pay an additional three percent (3%) towards the employer's pension contribution rate for a total employee contribution of 12%. Pursuant to IRS Code Section 414 (h)(2), these payments shall be made on a pre-tax basis. The City has contracted with CalPERS for Employee Cost Sharing as set forth in Government Code section 20516(a). These additional employee pension contributions shall be credited to each member's account as a normal contribution.

25.3 **Tier Two:** For employees hired on or after January 1, 2013 and classified as "new" members of CalPERS as defined by Public Employee Pension Reform Act (PEPRA), the City shall maintain a contract with CalPERS for the provision of a 2.7% @ 57 (highest 36 months) retirement benefit formula. Also pursuant to PEPRA, these employees are responsible for paying one-half of the normal cost of this retirement plan and subject to the reportable annual compensation limit per Government Code Section 7522.10.

#### Section 26. Safety

The City shall conform with applicable safety regulations provided by State law to ensure the employee reasonable safe working conditions. The Association agrees to encourage its members to conduct themselves and use their equipment in a safe manner, to promptly report unsafe conditions and equipment and to abide by the guidelines of the applicable City of San Leandro General Safety Rules and applicable departmental rules. In the event an employee leaves the Police Department, the employee shall return all City provided safety equipment to the Department.

#### Section 27. Injury on Duty

When an employee is incapable of performing work or duties as a result of injuries received or illness arising in the course of employment by the City and receives benefits pursuant to the Workers' Compensation Act, upon the sole discretion of the City Manager, the employee may be granted a leave with an amount of pay equal to the difference between City pay and the Workers' Compensation pay benefit, if any, received during such incapacity, but not to exceed one (1) year for any one (1) period of such incapacity.

Leave granted to an employee under the above provisions shall not be considered sick leave or deducted from accumulated sick leave.

When an employee has been injured in the line of duty and receives compensation in accordance with the provisions of any Workers' Compensation Act of the State of California, Human Resources shall have submitted to him or her reports on the forms and in the manner prescribed.

#### Section 28. Modified Duty

When an employee cannot perform the full range of duties of the classification as a result of an industrial injury as defined by the Workers' Compensation Act, such employee may be assigned modified duty if reasonable accommodation can be made. Modified duty may be assigned after medical release by a City designated physician, which indicates the employee's work restrictions.

#### Section 29. Outside Work

No employee represented by the San Leandro Police Officers' Association shall engage in gainful occupation outside a City position which is incompatible with City employment, or which is of such nature that it would tend to embarrass, be a conflict of interest, or discredit the Police Department or the City in general. The nature of the employment or the amount of time that an employee can spend at a second job cannot be such that it will hinder or prevent effective performance of City duties. Any employee who wishes to engage in or accept such employment may do so only after a written request has been submitted through channels to and approved by the Police Chief.

#### Section 30. Miscellaneous

- 30.1 <u>Tuition Reimbursement</u>. The Tuition Reimbursement Program is incorporated here by reference. The maximum tuition reimbursement benefit under the program is one thousand (\$1,000.00) dollars per employee. The reimbursement is limited to class registration, parking-related costs and course materials.
- 30.2 <u>Pay Procedures Time Change</u>. The parties agree that following will be applied to any full-time employee working the "midnight" shift at the time clocks change from/to Pacific Standard Time (PST) and Pacific Daylight Time (PDT).
  - A. In the spring, when transitioning from PST to PDT, employees working on a shift which includes the one-hour transition from Standard to Daylight Saving time will be paid only for time actually worked. Such employees may be granted the option by the Chief to work an additional hour of straight time (to avoid being docked), or use accrued "time," compensatory time or vacation to make up the lost work hour.



- B. In the fall, when transitioning from PDT to PST, employees working during the one-hour transition will be paid for all hours worked, including one hour of overtime at the overtime rate for the extra hour worked in excess of their regularly-scheduled shift, as a result of the time change.
- 30.3 <u>Life Insurance</u>. The City shall maintain in effect employer provided Term Life Insurance with AD&D in the amount of fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000.00) for active full-time employees. The insurance provider shall be "A-rated", unless the parties specify otherwise.
- 30.4 <u>Deferred Compensation.</u> Effective January 1, 2020, the City will match an employee's contribution to the City's Section 457 Deferred Compensation plan up to a maximum of 1% of employee's base pay. Effective January 1, 2021, the City will match an employee's contributions up to a maximum of 1.75% of base pay.

In addition, the City will directly contribute to each employee's deferred compensation account an amount equal to the City's contribution formula to Long Term Disability (LTD) insurance for other employee groups. In order to receive the City contributions, an employee must be enrolled in the City's deferred compensation plan.

Effective January 1, 2020, or as soon thereafter as administratively feasible, the City shall put out a request for proposals from fiduciaries to manage the City's deferred compensation plan.

30.5 <u>Retiree Medical Trust.</u> Employees covered by this MOU shall participate in a retiree medical expense reimbursement plan administered by PORAC Retiree Medical Trust. The plan is designed to permit employees to set aside money to be used to pay for health insurance expenses in retirement, pursuant to the rules of the plan. The Trust must meet Internal Revenue Code requirements that allow contributions to be made on a pre-tax basis. The Trust shall be and remain separate and apart from any City health insurance funding program.

No City contributions shall be made to the Trust. Effective February 1, 2020, employees covered by the MOU shall contribute to the plan \$300 per month, which will be deducted pre-tax from the employees' salary and remitted monthly to the Trust, accompanied by a list of the contributing employees. There shall be no employee election to take the amount in cash.

Participation in the Trust shall be the complete and sole responsibility of the Association. The Association shall be responsible for payment of all costs and fees associated with the set-up and administration of the Trust. The City shall not have any involvement in the Trust's design, its administration or in the benefits paid. The Association shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the City, its officers, elected officials, and employees from and against any and all liability, loss, claims, expenses, and costs arising out of or in connection with the Trust, Trustees, or Trust administrator's failure to comply with any of its obligations and fiduciary responsibility. If any of the provisions of the Trust documents or contract between the Association and the Trust program are inconsistent with the term of the MOU, the terms of the MOU will prevail.

#### Section 31. Discipline

31.1 <u>Discipline:</u> The City may discharge, suspend, demote or reduce the pay of any employee, who has completed the specified probationary period, for cause including but not limited to dishonesty, insubordination, drunkenness, incompetence, willful negligence, failure to perform work as required or failure to comply with the City's reasonable rules regarding safety, conduct and operations, or any conduct related to employment which impairs, disrupts, or causes discredit to the employee's employment or to the City. In the event an employee feels the discharge or suspension is not for cause, the Association shall have the right to appeal the case in accordance with the provision of this section.

Probationary employees may be discharged for any reason, which, in the sole opinion of the City, is just and sufficient and such discharge shall not be subject to any appeal.

- 31.2 <u>Presumption of Delivery:</u> Any written notice shall be conclusively presumed delivered to the employee on the date the written notice is personally served on the employee. In the event that any notice is sent to an employee by Certified Mail, Return Receipt requested, the notice shall be conclusively presumed delivered to the employee on the date the receipt was signed. In the event the Certified Mail is refused, or in the event the employee is absent without leave and no person at the address to which the Certified Mail is sent signs for such Certified Mail, then it shall be presumed that the notice was delivered as of the date the postal service returns the Certified Mail to the return address.
- 31.3 <u>Departmental Action Prior to Imposition of Discipline:</u> Except in cases of emergency, at least five (5) calendar days prior to the effective date of any disciplinary action against employees with permanent status, the Police Chief or person authorized by him or her shall give the employee written notice of the proposed disciplinary action, reasons for such action, a copy of the charges and material upon which the action is based, and the right to respond either orally or in writing, or both, to the Police Chief or designee proposing the disciplinary action prior to the effective date of such disciplinary action.
- 31.4 <u>Notice of Disciplinary Action:</u> Whenever a disciplinary action is taken against an employee, the employee shall be notified in writing. Such notification shall include but is not limited to:
  - A. A statement of the disciplinary action taken against the employee;
  - B. A summary of the facts upon which the disciplinary action is based;
  - C. A statement advising the employee that written notice of the disciplinary action is to be placed in his/her official personnel file and that the employee has the right to appeal under the disciplinary appeal procedure set forth in this section.

The written notice of disciplinary action may be either personally served or mailed to the employee by Certified Mail, Return Receipt requested, addressed to the last address, which the employee has furnished the City.

31.5 <u>Appeal Process</u>: The Association or the Human Resources Manager may appeal the Police Chief's determination to the City Manager within fifteen (15) calendar days of the rendering of the decision. Any such appeal shall be in writing, and shall include the specific reasons for the appeal and a statement of the desired remedy. The City Manager,

<sup>90</sup> 

or his/her designee, shall investigate the merits of the appeal and attempt to resolve the disciplinary issue(s).

- 31.6 <u>Adjustment Board</u>: In the event the parties are unable to resolve the disciplinary case, the Association, except in termination cases, may submit the disciplinary case to an Adjustment Board. The Adjustment Board shall be composed of three (3) employee representatives and three (3) representatives of the City.
- 31.7 <u>Arbitration</u>: If the Adjustment Board is unable to arrive at a majority decision, or in termination cases, either the Association or the City may refer the case to an impartial arbitrator who shall be selected by mutual agreement between the Association and the City Manager. The fees and expenses of the arbitrator and of a Court Recorder shall be shared equally by the Association and the City. Each party, however, shall bear the cost of its own presentation, including preparation and post hearing briefs, if any.
- 31.8 Decisions of the Adjustment Board or Arbitrators on matters properly before them shall be final and binding on the parties, hereto, to the extent permitted by the Charter of the City.

#### Section 32. Grievance Procedure

- 32.1 A grievance shall be defined as any dispute which involved the interpretation or application of any provision of this Memorandum of Understanding, excluding all ordinances, resolutions, rules and regulations, the subject of which is not specifically covered by the provisions of this Memorandum. Such excluded ordinances, resolutions, rules and regulations shall not be subject to the Grievance Procedure.
- 32.2 Grievances as defined in (1) above shall be processed only in the following manner:
  - A. An employee who wishes to file a grievance shall discuss the issues with a management official in the department designated by the Police Chief. In the event the employee is not satisfied, or has not received a response within fifteen (15) calendar days, the grievance may be referred to the Association who may seek a resolution with the management of the department or invoke the procedures hereinafter specified.
  - B. The Association may notify the Human Resources Manager or designated representative in writing that a grievance exists, and in such notification state the particulars of the grievance and if possible, the nature of the determination which is desired. The Human Resources Manager or designated representative shall thereupon investigate the issues involved, meet with the grievant and attempt to reach a satisfactory resolution of the problem. No grievance may be processed under paragraphs (c) and (d) below which has not first been filed and investigated in pursuance of this paragraph (b).
  - C. Any grievance which has not been resolved by the procedures herein above set forth may be referred to the City Manager by the Association or by the Human Resources Manager. Any such referral shall be in writing, and the specific issues involved shall be detailed in such referral together with a statement of the resolution, which is desired. The City Manager shall designate a personal representative to investigate the merits of the grievance, to meet with the grievant, and to settle such grievance or to make recommendations thereon to the City Manager.

- D. In the event the parties hereto are unable to reach a mutually satisfactory accord on any grievance, excluding termination cases, (as the term "grievance" is hereinabove defined) which arises and is presented during the term of this Memorandum of Understanding, such grievance shall be submitted to an Adjustment Board comprised of three (3) employee representatives, and three (3) representatives of the City.
- E. If an Adjustment Board is unable to arrive at a majority decision, either the Association or the City may require that the grievance be referred to an impartial arbitrator who shall be designated by mutual agreement between the Association and the City Manager. The fees and expenses of the arbitrator and of a Court Recorder shall be shared equally by the Association and the City. Each party, however, shall bear the cost of its own presentation, including preparation and post hearing briefs, if any.

Decisions of Adjustment Board or Arbitrators on matters properly before them shall be final and binding on the parties hereto, to the extent permitted by the Charter of the City.

No Adjustment Board or Arbitrator shall entertain, hear, decide or make recommendations on any dispute involving a position over which the Association has jurisdiction unless such dispute falls within the definition of a grievance as hereinabove set forth in paragraph (1) of this section.

Proposals to add or change this Memorandum of Understanding or written agreements or addenda supplementary hereto shall not be arbitrable and no proposal to modify, amend or terminate this Memorandum of Understanding, nor any matter or subject arising out of or in connection with such proposal, may be referred for arbitration under this section; and neither any Adjustment Board nor any Arbitrator shall have the power to amend or modify this Memorandum of Understanding or written agreements or addenda supplementary hereto or to establish any new terms or conditions of employment.

- 32.3 All grievances involving or concerning the payment of compensation shall be initially filed in writing with the Human Resources Manager. In such cases no adjustment shall be retroactive for more than sixty (60) calendar days from the date upon which the grievance was filed. Only grievances, which allege that employees are not being compensated in accordance with the provisions of this Memorandum of Understanding, shall be considered as grievances. Any other matters of compensation are to be resolved in the meeting and conferring process and if not detailed in the Memorandum of Understanding which results from such meeting and conferring process shall be deemed withdrawn until the meeting and conferring process is next opened for such discussion.
- 32.4 No changes in the Memorandum of Understanding or Interpretations thereof (except interpretation resulting from Adjustment Board or arbitration proceedings hereunder) will be recognized unless agreed to by the City Manager and the Association.

#### Section 33. No Strike Clause

The Association, its members and representatives agree that it and they will not engage in, authorize, sanction, or support any strike, slowdown, stoppage of work, curtailment of production, concerted refusal of overtime work, refusal to operate designated equipment (provided such equipment is safe) or to perform customary duties; and neither the Association nor any

representatives thereof shall engage in job action for the purpose of effecting changes in the directives or decisions of management of the City, nor to effect a change of personnel or operations of management or of employees not covered by the Memorandum of Understanding.

#### Section 34. Non-Discrimination

The City and the Association agree that there shall be no discrimination against any employee because of Association activities or because of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age, marital status, or handicap, as defined by applicable Federal and State regulations.

#### Section 35. Past Practices and Existing Memoranda of Understanding

- 35.1 Continuance of working conditions and practices not specifically authorized by departmental rules and regulations or by ordinance or resolution of the City Council is not guaranteed by this Memorandum of Understanding.
- 35.2 This Memorandum of Understanding shall supersede all existing Memoranda of understanding between the City and the Association.

#### Section 36. Separability of Provisions

Should any section, clause or provision of this Memorandum of Understanding be declared illegal by final judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidation of such section, clause or provision shall not invalidate the remaining portions hereof, and such remaining portions shall remain in full force and effect for the duration of this Memorandum of Understanding.

It is mutually recommended that the modifications shown above shall be made applicable on the dates indicated and these modifications represent the full and final settlement of all proposals made by the San Leandro Police Officers' Association.

This Memorandum of Understanding and the recommended modifications herein shall commence on January 1, 2020 and shall remain in effect through December 31, 2022, except for those provisions assigned other effective dates.

The City will provide the Association with one hundred (100) printed copies of the signed Memorandum of Understanding and one (1) electronic copy.

Dated:

CITY REPRESENTATIVES

#### REPRESENTATIVES, SAN LEANDRO POLICE OFFICERS' ASSOCIATION

Jeff Kay, Municipal Employee Relations Officer Dan Fernandez, President

Michael Olivera, Vice President

Bob Sanchez, Treasurer

Jeff Walton, Committee Member

93

Approved by City Council on xx/xx/xx

## CITY OF SAN LEANDRO SLPOA Salary Schedule Effective 01/01/2020

SR	CLASSIFICATION	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6
200	Police Sergeant	9693	10177	10686	11220	11781	12370
201	Police Officer	8077	8481	8905	9351	9818	10309

## CITY OF SAN LEANDRO SLPOA Salary Schedule Effective 07/01/2020

SR	CLASSIFICATIO	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6
200	Police Sergeant	9862	10355	10873	11416	11987	12586
201	Police Officer	8219	8630	9061	9514	9990	10489

## CITY OF SAN LEANDRO SLPOA Salary Schedule Effective 07/01/2021

SR	CLASSIFICATIO	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6
200	Police Sergeant	10133	10639	11171	11730	12316	12932
201	Police Officer	8444	8867	9310	9775	10264	10777

## CITY OF SAN LEANDRO SLPOA Salary Schedule Effective 07/01/2022

SR CLASSIFICATION	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6
200 Police Sergeant	10335	10852	11395	11964	12563	13191
201 Police Officer	8613	9044	9496	9971	10469	10993

## CITY OF SAN LEANDRO SLPOA Salary Schedule Effective 10/01/2022

SR	CLASSIFICATIO	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6
200	Police Sergeant	10491	11015	11566	12144	12751	13389
201	Police Officer	8743	9180	9639	10121	10627	11158



# City of San Leandro

Meeting Date: January 6, 2020

**Resolution - Council** 

File Number:	19-653	Agenda Section: CONSENT CALENDAR
		Agenda Number:
TO:	City Council	
FROM:	Jeff Kay City Manager	
BY:	Jeff Kay City Manager	
FINANCE REVIEW: David Baum Finance Director		
TITLE:	RESOLUTION to Approve the Memorandum of Understanding Between the City of San Leandro and the San Leandro Police Officers' Association (SLPOA) for the period January 1, 2020 through December 31, 2022.	

WHEREAS, an agreement was reached between the negotiators for the City of San Leandro and the San Leandro Police Officers' Association (SLPOA); and

WHEREAS, a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the City and the SLPOA, for the period January 1, 2020 through December 31, 2022, is presented to this City Council; and

WHEREAS, the City Council is familiar with the contents thereof; and

WHEREAS, the City Manager recommends approval of said agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of San Leandro does RESOLVE as follows:

1. That said MOU substantially in the form presented is hereby approved and execution by the City Manager is hereby authorized; and

2. That the City Manager is authorized to make non-substantial revisions to said MOU, subject to the approval of the City Attorney; and

3. That an original executed MOU shall be attached to and made a part of this resolution.